I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The Petitioner is THEODORE ROOSEVELT RHONE, 

Defendant and Appellant in the case below. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of the unpublished opinion of the 

Court of Appeals, Division 2, case number 46960-0-11, which was 

filed on July 6, 2016. The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction 

entered against Petitioner in the Pierce County Superior Court. 

Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration was denied on August 12, 

2016. 

Ill. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does the Court of Appeals misapply the constitutional 
harmless error standard, and relieve the State of its burden 
of proving a constitutional error is harmless, when it finds not 
that overwhelming untainted evidence supports the guilty 
verdict, but only that a jury could have rationally found a 
defendant guilty without the tainted evidence? 

2. Does the Court of Appeals misapply the constitutional 
harmless error standard, and relieve the State of its burden 
of proving a constitutional error is harmless, when it fails to 
review the record from trial in order to determine whether 
overwhelming untainted evidence supports the guilty 
verdict? 

3. Whether offenses involving the use or display of a firearm 
include possession as one of their essential elements, 
thereby granting a defendant automatic standing to 
challenge the search and seizure of the firearm? 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On May 30, 2003, Pierce County Sheriff's Deputy David 

Shaffer overheard a dispatch reporting an incident at a Jack in the 

Box restaurant in Lakewood. (CP 40, 541) An employee had 

reported that a red Camara with three occupants (two black men 

and a white woman) had been through the drive-thru window 

looking for an employee who owed them money. (CP 40, 541) The 

car had a license plate number of 677-HCS. The employee also 

reported that the front seat passenger had displayed a gun. (CP 

40, 541) 

Deputy Shaffer recognized the car description and license 

plate as a vehicle he had previously seen parked at a suspected 

drug house on South Tacoma Way. (CP 41, 541; 04/25/05 RP 

155)1 Deputy Shaffer drove to the house and saw the red Camara 

parked outside. (CP 41, 541; 04/25/05 RP 155-56) 

As he pulled behind the Camara, Deputy Shaffer saw a man, 

later identified as Theodore Rhone, exiting the car's passenger 

side. (CP 41, 541; 04/25/05 RP 156, 157) When Deputy Shaffer 

ordered him to show his hands, Rhone slowly and deliberately 

1 The transcripts will be referred to by the date of the proceeding. 
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looked at Deputy Shaffer and then leaned back into the car. (CP 

41, 541 ) These movements made Deputy Shaffer believe that 

Rhone had a weapon or was reaching for one. (CP 41, 541) 

Rhone finally complied with the deputy's commands and Deputy 

Shaffer detained him. (CP 41, 541) 

By this time, other officers arrived and removed the other 

two occupants, Phyllis Burg and Cortez Brown, from the Camara. 

(CP 42, 542) As the officers removed Burg, she told them that they 

had just returned from the Jack in the Box. (CP 42, 542) The 

officers patted down all three occupants. (CP 42, 542) Rhone had 

a knife without a handle, someone else's checkbook, and a $20 bill. 

(04/25/05 RP 163) All three were handcuffed and placed in 

separate police cars. (CP 42, 542; 04/25/05 RP 165; 09/26/14 RP 

25-26) As Deputy Shaffer started to return to the Camara, Burg 

told him that there was a gun in the car. (CP 42, 542; 09/26/14 RP 

26) 

At this point, Deputy Shaffer decided to search the Camara 

to locate and secure the gun. (CP 42, 542; 04/25/05 RP 165-66) 

He found the gun in a plastic bag wrapped inside a towel, and 

found a purple Crown Royal bag containing crack cocaine. (CP 42, 

542) 
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Subsequently, Deputy Shaffer received a call from Deputy 

Darren Miller, who relayed information he had gathered from 

witnesses at the Jack in the Box. (CP 42, 542; 04/25/05 RP 167-

68) The witnesses told Deputy Miller that the Camaro had gone 

through the drive-thru window, contacted an employee, and 

demanded money from him. One of the occupants was holding a 

gun, so the employee threw money into the vehicle. (CP 42-43, 

542-43) After receiving this information, Deputy Shaffer officially 

arrested all three for armed robbery. (CP 43, 543) 

Rhone was charged with and convicted of first degree 

robbery with a firearm enhancement, unlawful possession of a 

controlled substance with intent to deliver also with a firearm 

enhancement, and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. 

(CP 34-36, 47-48) The trial court found that Rhone was a 

persistent offender and imposed a sentence of life without the 

possibility of parole. (CP 52) 

Before trial, Rhone had unsuccessfully moved to suppress 

the cocaine and the firearm seized during the search of the 

Camaro. The trial court denied the motion. (CP 43-44) Division 2 

affirmed the ruling on direct appeal. (See State v. Rhone, 137 Wn. 

App. 1046 (2007)). 
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In 2014, this Court granted Rhone's Personal Restraint 

Petition, and remanded his case to the Superior Court for 

reconsideration of the suppression ruling "in light of Arizona v. Gant 

... and State v. Patton[.]" (CP 98) On remand, the trial court 

adopted its original findings of fact and legal reasoning, and again 

upheld the vehicle search and denied the motion to suppress. 

(10/10/14 RP 51-55; CP 540-44) Rhone again appealed. (CP 61-

62) 

In an unpublished opinion filed on July 6, 2016, Division 2 

found that the suppression motion should have been granted and 

that the cocaine and firearm should have been suppressed. 

However, the court nevertheless affirmed Rhone's robbery 

conviction and its related deadly weapon enhancement after finding 

that the error in failing to suppress was harmless as to those 

charges. Specifically, the Court stated: 

The jury instructions required the jury to find only that 
Rhone displayed what appeared to be a firearm in 
order to convict for first degree robbery, not that he 
possessed an actual firearm. The unchallenged 
findings of fact include Miller's statement that the front 
seat passenger pointed a gun at him when the 
Camara proceeded through the drive through, Burg's 
statements that there was a gun in the car and that 
they had just returned from the Jack in the Box, and 
that Rhone exited from the passenger door of the 
vehicle. The State meets its burden and establishes 
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that the untainted evidence necessarily supports a 
finding that Rhone displayed what appeared to be a 
firearm. Thus, the admission of the weapon is 
harmless error as it relates to Rhone's conviction for 
first degree robbery with a firearm enhancement. 

(Opinion at 10-11) Rhone's Motion for Reconsideration was denied 

on August 12, 2016. 

V. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES 

The issues raised by Rhone's petition should be addressed 

by this Court because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with 

settled case law of the Court of Appeals, this Court and of the 

United State's Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). The Court 

of Appeals misapplied the constitutional harmless error standard 

and relieved the State of its burden of establishing that the error 

was harmless. 

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS MISAPPLIED THE CONSTITUTIONAL 

HARMLESS ERROR STANDARD AND RELIEVED THE STATE OF 

ITS BURDEN OF ESTABLISHING THAT THE TRIAL COURT'S 

ERROR IN FAILING TO SUPPRESS THE ILLEGALLY OBTAINED 

EVIDENCE WAS HARMLESS. 

A constitutional error is presumed to be prejudicial. State v. 

Coristine, 177 Wn.2d 370, 380, 300 P.3d 400 (2013). For a 

constitutional error to be harmless, the appellate court must 

conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict cannot be 

attributed to the error. State v. Lui, 179 Wn.2d 457, 495, 315 P.3d 
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493, cert. denied, 134 S. Ct. 2842 (20 14 ). The reviewing court 

uses the "'overwhelming untainted evidence'" test in its harmless 

error analysis. Coristine, 177 Wn.2d at 391 (quoting State v. Guloy, 

104 Wn.2d 412,425-26,705 P.2d 1182 (1985)). 

The Court of Appeals did not apply this high standard when 

it determined that the error in failing to suppress the items from the 

Camara was harmless. The court found that the error was 

harmless because the State could have established the elements of 

the crime without admitting the firearm and because a jury could 

have convicted Rhone without proof of the firearm. (Opinion at 11) 

Division 2 applied what amounts to a "sufficiency of the evidence" 

standard, finding that because there was some evidence that 

Rhone displayed what was or appeared to be a firearm, a jury could 

have rationally convicted.2 But finding that the State presented 

some evidence to establish the elements of the crime is not the 

same as finding that "overwhelming untainted evidence" 

established the elements of the crime. 

Furthermore, the State bears the burden of showing that a 

2 Under the sufficiency of the evidence standard of review, the Court will affirm a 
conviction if the evidence presented at trial, viewed in the light most favorable to 
the prosecution, permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of 
the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 
829 P.2d 1068 (1992). 
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constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 

State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 680, 257 P.3d 551 (2011 ); State 

v. Miller, 131 Wn.2d 78, 90, 929 P.2d 372 (1997). By not reviewing 

the trial transcript to determine whether the overwhelming untainted 

evidence presented to the jury at trial established Rhone's guilt, this 

Court relieved the State of its burden of showing that the error in 

admitting the illegally seized evidence was harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt. 

Division 2 simply relied on the trial court's written findings of 

fact, which were based on the testimony of the responding 

Deputies given at the CrR 3.6 hearing, relating what they were told 

by the witnesses on the night of the incident. These findings were 

not based on testimony of the witnesses themselves, and were 

entered before the witnesses gave their testimony under oath 

subject to cross examination. It is improper for an appellate court 

to rely on the findings of fact to determine whether the State has 

satisfied the "overwhelming untainted evidence" constitutional 

harmless error test. 

And a review of the complete record shows that the 
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constitutional harmless error was not met. 3 It cannot be said, 

beyond a reasonable doubt, that the jury would have convicted 

Rhone of robbery with a firearm enhancement had the jury not 

been shown the firearm. That is because "[p]ersonal reactions to 

the ownership of guns vary greatly. Many individuals view guns 

with great abhorrence and fear ... [others] may react solely to the 

fact that someone who has committed a crime has such weapons. 

Any or all of these individuals might believe that defendant was a 

dangerous individual ... just because he owned guns." State v. 

Rupe, 101 Wn.2d 664, 708, 683 P.2d 571 (1984). Thus, the impact 

of evidence that there was a gun in the car, and the impact of 

having the actual firearm in the courtroom and shown the jury, 

cannot be known. 

Furthermore, because the items were not suppressed before 

trial, the State was able to proceed on the charges of unlawful 

possession of a firearm and unlawful possession of a controlled 

substance. (CP 34-36) This allowed the State to present evidence 

that Rhone possessed cocaine and that he had was ineligible to 

3 The trial transcripts from Rhone's earlier direct appeal (No. 34063-1-11) were 
made part of the record in his current appeal after the Court of Appeals granted 
Rhone's motion to transfer the report of proceedings, and were therefore 
available for review. 
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possess a firearm because he had previously been convicted of a 

"serious" crime.4 The State was also able to present testimony 

about other items found in the Crown Royal bag, and how those 

items are commonly used by street level crack dealers. (04/29/05 

RP 624-25; 05/03/05 RP 852; 05/04/05 RP 947-48) 

Evidence of these additional crimes is highly prejudicial: "'the 

risk that a jury will convict for crimes other than those charged - or 

that, uncertain of guilt, it will convict anyway because a bad person 

deserves punishment - creates a prejudicial effect[.]"' State v. 

Rivera, 95 Wn. App. 132, 138, 974 P.2d 882 (1999) (quoting Old 

Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 117 S. Ct. 644, 651, 136 L. 

Ed. 2d 574 (1997)). 

This problem is vividly illustrated in the fact that the 

prosecutor continually relied on the existence of an actual firearm to 

argue that Rhone intended to threaten violence or cause fear, 

which was required to prove the robbery charge. 5 (See 05/04/05 

RP 934, 939-40, 942, 944, 947-48) And the State was able to paint 

an extremely negative picture of Rhone to the jury based on the 

additional facts. For example, the prosecutor told the jury: 

Mr. Rhone is the only one who is armed with a 

4 RCW 69.50.401; RCW 9.41.040. 
5 See RCW 9A.56.190. 
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gun. Why? Because he has the drugs and he is 
going to be dealing. He needs to defend himself. He 
also needs to intimidate Isaac Miller. All this adds up 
to you knowing that Mr. Rhone is the bad actor in this 
case. 

(05/04/05 RP 949) 

Thus, it is impossible to say that any reasonable jury would 

have reached the same result if the illegally obtained items, along 

with the additional charges and incriminating facts that were 

allowed to be presented in conjunction with those items, were not 

admitted at trial. 

Finally, while the State may not be required to present the 

actual firearm in order to prove a charge of first degree robbery, the 

State is required to prove that a defendant is armed with a real 

firearm for the purposes of the sentence enhancement. The 

penalty enhancement provision's language "requires the presence 

of a firearm or deadly weapon in fact." State v. Hentz, 99 Wn.2d 

538, 543, 663 P.2d 476 (1983) (emphasis in original); see also 

State v. Fowler, 114 Wn.2d 59, 62, 785 P.2d 808 (1990) (State is 

required to prove that the gun used was a gun "in fact," rather than 

"a gunlike but nondeadly object"); RCW 9.94A.533(3); RCW 

9.41.010(9). Accordingly, the improper failure to suppress the gun 

in this case was clearly not harmless as to the firearm 
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enhancement for the robbery offense. 

B. A DEFENDANT CHARGED WITH A CRIME THAT HAS POSSESSION 

AND DISPLAY OF A FIREARM AS AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT HAS 

AUTOMATIC STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE SEARCH AND 

SEIZURE OF THE FIREARM. 

Should this Court accept review on the harmless error issue, 

this Court may also need to address the State's argument that 

Rhone does not have standing. In its unpublished opinion, this 

Court states: 

The State argues that Rhone lacked standing 
to challenge the search as to the conviction for first 
degree robbery with a firearm enhancement. 
However, this argument need- not be addressed, as 
we agree with the State that evidence that Rhone 
possessed an actual firearm is not necessary for the 
jury to have found that Rhone displayed what 
appeared to be a firearm. 

(Opinion at 10 fn. 1 0) But the Court should not affirm Rhone's 

conviction on this alternative ground because Rhone has automatic 

standing to challenge the search and because the State did not 

challenge Rhone's standing at the suppression hearing or at trial. 

First, a defendant has "automatic standing" to challenge a 

search or seizure under article 1, § 7 of the Washington State 

constitution if (1) the offense of which he is charged involves 

possession as an essential element of the offense and (2) the 

defendant was in possession of the seized property at the time of 
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the contested search. State v. Simpson, 95 Wn.2d 170, 180-81, 

622 P.2d 1199 (1980). 

To convict Rhone of first degree robbery, the State had to 

prove that he "[d]isplay[ed] what appear[ed] to be a firearm or other 

deadly weapon[.]" RCW 9A.56.200(1 )(a)(ii). As charged and 

prosecuted in this case, Rhone's possession and display of an item 

that appeared to be a firearm is an essential element that the State 

had to prove. The firearm seized during the illegal search was the 

item used during the robbery that "appear[ed] to be a firearm," and 

Rhone possessed the firearm at the time of the contested search. 

Therefore, Rhone did have automatic standing to challenge the 

search of the car and the seizure of the firearm as it applies to the 

robbery charge.6 

Nevertheless, a defendant who lacks automatic standing 

may still possess a legitimate expectation of privacy in the place 

searched or the thing seized, and on that basis be able to challenge 

the search or seizure. See United States v. Salvucci, 448 U.S. 83, 

6 In State v. White, 40 Wn. App. 490, 495, 699 P.2d 239 (1985), Division 2 noted: 
"[w]hether the offenses in the case before us, which involve the use or display of 
a firearm, includes possession as one of their essential elements, as understood 
in State v. Simpson, supra, may be subject to some argument." But the White 
court did not resolve the question because it found that the facts of that specific 
case did not meet the Simpson test. 
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86-87, 100 S. Ct. 2547, 65 L. Ed. 2d 619 (1980). In Combs v. 

United States, the Supreme Court remanded for an evidentiary 

hearing to permit both parties to present evidence on the issue of 

standing, which respondent government raised for the first time on 

appeal. 408 U.S. 224, 92 S. Ct. 2284, 33 L. Ed. 2d 308 (1972). 

The Combs Court observed it was understandable that the 

defendant did not assert any possessory or proprietary claim to the 

searched premises because the government did not challenge his 

standing either at the suppression hearing or at trial. Combs, 408 

U.S. at 227. Since the record was "virtually barren of the facts" 

necessary to determine a privacy interest, the Court remanded the 

case to permit the trial court to make such a factual determination. 

Combs, 408 U.S. at 227-28. 

In this case, the State raised a challenge to Rhone's 

standing for the first time in its response brief on appeal. 

Accordingly, Rhone did not have the motivation or opportunity 

below to assert a possessory or privacy interest in the searched 

vehicle. If this Court finds that Rhone does not have automatic 

standing, and if the Court is inclined to consider whether Rhone 

had standing to challenge the search, then this case should first be 

remanded for an evidentiary hearing on the issue of standing. 
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VI. CONCLUSION 

This Court should grant review and reverse the Court of 

Appeals because the Court misunderstood and misapplied the 

constitutional harmless error standard when it held that the error in 

admitting the firearm was harmless, and because the actual 

constitutional harmless error standard is not met.