# THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT,

v.

## THEODORE ROOSEVELT RHONE, PETITIONER

Court of Appeals Cause No. 46960-0-II Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Edmund Murphy

No. 03-1-02581-1

## COURT ORDERED ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JASON RUYF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

# **

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

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED.

The United States Supreme Court explained the need for extending constitutional protection to officers conducting traffic stops:

It would seem ... the possibility of a violent encounter stems not from the ordinary reaction of a motorist stopped for a speeding violation, but from the fact ... evidence of a more serious crime might be uncovered during the stop. And the motivation of a passenger to employ violence to prevent apprehension of such a crime is every bit as great as that of the driver.

*Maryland v. Wilson*, 519 U.S. 408, 414, 117 S. Ct. 882 (1997). Ninth Circuit, Court of Appeals, Chief Judge Kozinski observed that:

"[i]n the last decade, more than half a million police were assaulted in the line of duty. More than 160,000 were injured, and 536 were killed—the vast majority while performing routine law enforcement tasks like conducting traffic stops []."

Gonzalez v. City of Anaheim, 747 F.3d 798, 803-04 (9th Cir. 2014). Justice Ginsburg reaffirmed the Court's unyielding view traffic stops are "especially fraught with danger to police officers." Gonzalez, 747 F.3d at 804 (quoting Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323, 330, 129 S.Ct. 781 (2009)). "[S]he recognize[d]:

The risk of harm to both the police and the occupants [of a stopped vehicle] is minimized, [] if the officers routinely exercise unquestioned command of the situation[.]

*Id.* Justice Souter called the principle of unquestioned police command at traffic stops "a societal expectation." *Id.* (quoting *Brendlin v. California*, 551 U.S. 249, 258, 127 S.Ct. 2400 (2007)).

This Court rightly articulated like-minded recognition for the need of our officers to ensure their safety through maintaining scene security amid active investigations. *State v. Flores*, 186 Wn.2d 506, 510-26, 379 P.3d 104 (2016). In particular, those that must be undertaken through traffic stops of cars in which a person suspected of a firearm offense is accompanied by others who may pose a threat to officers. *Id.* Protective-firearm sweeps of cars amid investigative detentions permitted under *Terry* are often essential to ensure police are not gunned down during those encounters. *State v. Chang*, 147 Wn. App. 490, 495, 195 P.3d 1008 (2008) (citing *State v. Kennedy*, 107 Wn.2d 1, 12, 726 P.2d 445 (1986)). Being *Terry*-frisks adapted to vehicles, these minimally intrusive safety measures were not limited by *Gant's* clarification of the search incident to arrest exception.

1. SHOULD REVIEW BE DENIED SINCE THE CHALLENGED ROBBERY CONVICTION IS THE BASIS FOR DEFENDANT'S SENTENCE AND SURVIVED REVIEW UNDER THE CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR TEST THOUGH IT WAS ON REMAND FROM A PRP WHERE IT IS FOR DEFENDANT TO PROVE SUCH AN ERROR RESULTED IN ACTUAL AND SUBSTANTIAL PREJUDICE.

Defendant misstates the record by claiming the Court of Appeals "applied what amounts to a sufficiency of the evidence standard" in the decision to affirm the robbery conviction underlying his life sentence. PDR at 7. The court unequivocally applied the constitutional harmless error test appropriate for cases on direct appeal:

Constitutional errors may be so insignificant as to be harmless. [] Constitutional error is harmless if the appellate court is assured beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict cannot be attributed to the error. [] Constitutional error is presumed to be prejudicial and the State bears the burden of proving that the error was harmless. [] This court uses the "overwhelming untainted evidence" test in its harmless error analysis. [] The State must show that the error was not plausibly relevant to the verdict and that the error could not plausibly have been the cause of a guilty verdict from an honest, fair-minded, and reasonable jury[.]

COA No. 46960-0-II (2016 WL 3702707, 5-6) (citing *Coristine*, 177 Wn.2d at 380, 393; *Lui*, 179 Wn.2d at 495; *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425-26, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985)). It was through application of this test that the robbery conviction was affirmed:

The jury instructions required the jury to find only that Rhone displayed what appeared to be a firearm in order to convict for first degree robbery, not that he possessed an actual firearm. The unchallenged findings of fact include Miller's statement that the front seat passenger pointed a gun at him when the Camaro proceeded through the drive through, Burg's statements that there was a gun in the car and that they had just returned from the Jack in the Box, and that Rhone exited from the passenger door of the vehicle. The State meets its burden and establishes that the untainted evidence necessarily supports a finding that Rhone displayed what appeared to be a firearm. Thus, the admission of the weapon is harmless error as it relates to Rhone's conviction for first degree robbery with a firearm enhancement.

Id. This analysis found the robbery conviction to be valid under a more exacting test than the actual and substantial prejudice test that should have been applied to a case on remand from a PRP. Id.; CP 94-96. In re Pers. Restraint of Sims, 118 Wn. App. 471, 476, 73 P.3d 398 (2003)(citing In re Pers. Restraint of Haverty, 101 Wn.2d 498, 503-04, 681 P.2d 835 (1984)); In re Pers. Restraint of Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647, 671-72, 101 P.3d 1 (2004). The irony in defendant's petition is that the State was really the party prejudiced by the standard of review applied, for it made it less likely his robbery conviction would be affirmed. But since the correct result was reached as to the robbery supporting defendant's life sentence under that tougher test and the case lacks precedential value, the State had no incentive to seek review as the vacated convictions have no practical impact on defendant's sentence.

Whether considered under the constitutional harmless error test applied, or the actual and substantial prejudice test that should have been, the evidence of defendant's guilt for first degree robbery is overwhelming.

That conviction is predicated on the jury's determination:

- (1) [D]efendant unlawfully took personal property belonging to another person or in the presence of another;
- (2) [D]defendant intended to commit theft of the property;
- (3) [T]he taking was against the person's will by the defendant's use or threatened use of immediate force, violence or fear of injury to that person;
- (4) That force or fear was used by the defendant to obtain or retain possession of the property;
- (5) That in the commission of these acts the defendant displayed what appeared to be a firearm;
- (6) That the acts occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 592 (Inst.16)(emphasis added); RCW 9A.56.200. Conviction for the offense was decided separately from the others and did not depend on proof that an actual firearm was used, let alone the one recovered, or the confiscated cocaine. CP 580 (Inst. 4); *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 754, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (jurors are presumed to follow instructions).

Police contacted defendant as he emerged from the passenger side of a Camaro just involved in a robbery at the Jack in the Box where a firearm was displayed. No. 34063-1-II (2007 WL 831725, 1-2). A felony stop followed. *Id.* Defendant "slowly and deliberately looked at Deputy Shaffer and leaned back into the car" as if he was hiding a firearm or

reaching for one. *Id*. One occupant told police they just came from the Jack in the Box. *Id*. As Shaffer walked toward the Camaro, but before he searched it, its owner told him there was a gun inside. *Id*.

For the analysis going forward it makes no difference whether one assumes the gun was suppressed at trial under *Gant*, or cleverly hidden never to be recovered. Eye witness testimony from the victim Jack in the Box employee proved defendant pointed a gun at him while demanding money. *Id.* It was immaterial to the robbery conviction whether the object defendant had in hand was a real gun or only appeared to be. The robbery was completed when the victim complied with defendant's demand by throwing money into the Camaro. *Id.* The Camaro's owner testified at trial "she heard [defendant] demanding \$40, and saw the money thrown into the car. She saw [defendant] with a plastic bag and ... saw a gun in th[e] bag when [defendant] threw it into the back seat after [] police surrounded the Camaro." *Id.* 

The robbery was proved through the independent testimony of the victim and a person with defendant in the Camaro when the robbery was committed. It was legally irrelevant whether defendant displayed a gun or fashioned some object into the shape of a gun, or successfully ditched the gun, or the gun-shaped object, prior to arrest. The undisputed facts of the robbery are not dependent on the gun's recovery or production at trial.

Erroneous admission of weaponry used to commit similarly proved crimes has long been deemed harmless under the constitutional error test applied on direct review. *State v. McCollum*, 17 Wn.2d 85, 91-92, 136 P.2d 165 (1943). Such a conclusion was reached in *Reid*, where admission of shotgun shells and a photograph of defendant's wife holding a shotgun was harmless in a murder case where the shooting was described by two witnesses, and another described the defendant's previous possession of a similar gun. *State v. Reid*, 38 Wn. App. 203, 213, 687 P.2d 861 (1984); *see also State v. Ferguson*, 3 Wn. App. 898, 904, 479 P.2d 114 (1970); *Fitts v. State*, 25 P.3d 1130, 1135 (2001) (failure to suppress gun harmless where victim identified him as the "robber who held the gun."); *State v. Harrison*, 805 P.2d 769 (1991); *Pericola v. State*, 499 So.2d 864, 868 (1986); *Adkins v. Beto*, 462 F.2d 802, 804 (5th Cir. 1972).

Defendant wrongly criticizes the record reviewed. It was his burden to perfect the record. *Stiles v. Kearney*, 168 Wn. App. 250, 259, 277 P.3d 9 (2012). It was not for the court to *sua sponte* transfer the record and scour it for facts omitted from his briefing that might prove relevant to his claim. *See In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Whitney*, 155 Wn.2d 451, 467, 120 P.3d 550 (2005). His January 21, 2015, Statement of Arrangements requested transmission of eight VRPs from hearings held in 2014. Attached to his brief as attachments were Opinion

No. 34063-1-II (137 Wn. App. 1046 (2007)) and the findings of fact from the 2014 CrR 3.6 hearing. The State cannot find a record of RAP 9.2 (c) notice of Partial Report of Proceedings and Issues, transcripts of the trial he says the court should have considered forwarded to the State, or a RAP 9.10 motion to supplement the record. Nor did he claim to have perfected the record through his motion for reconsideration.

Whether viewed under the lens of constitutional harmless error, as was done, or actual and substantial prejudice, as should have been done, failure to suppress the gun had no material impact on the first degree robbery conviction underlying defendant's life sentence.

2. REVIEW IS ALSO UNNECESSARY SINCE IT SHOULD RESULT IN THIS COURT BOTH AFFIRMING THE ROBBERY CONVICTION AND REINSTATING THOSE VACATED AS THE EVIDENCE MISTREATED AS A GANT VIOLATION WAS PROPERLY SEIZED IN A WEAPONS SWEEP PERMITTED BY TERRY.

The protective sweep exception to the warrant requirement applies when *Terry* stops include a safety sweep of a car's passenger compartment for weapons:

If a police officer has a reasonable belief ... the suspect in a *Terry* stop might be able to obtain weapons from a vehicle, the officer may search the vehicle without a warrant to secure his own safety, limited to those areas in which a weapon may be placed or hidden.

Chang, 147 Wn. App. at 495 (citing Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d at 12); State v. Glossbrener, 146 Wn.2d 670, 679, 49 P.3d 128 (2002); State v. Belieu, 112 Wn.2d 587, 594, 773 P.2d 46 (1989); State v. Wheeler, 108 Wn.2d 230, 233-37, 737 P.2d 1005 (1987); United States v. Edwards, 761 F.3d 977, 981-82 (9th Cir. 2014); Washington v. Lambert, 98 F.3d 1181, 1185 (9th Cir. 1996); United States v. Miles, 247 F.3d 1009, 1012-13 (9th Cir. 2001)). Such intrusions are permitted during an investigative detention where the police have information the suspect is currently armed or the stop closely follows a violent crime. Id.

The decisions in defendant's direct appeals unduly focused on what was perceived to be probable cause to arrest and the intrusiveness of the stop from the detainees' perspective without due, if any, regard for safety concerns justifying the situationally appropriate use of a firearm sweep. No. 34063-1-II (2007 WL 831725, 4-5). But the supposed existence of probable cause from hindsight assessments of dynamic and easily deadly circumstances does not transform an investigative detention into formal arrest, for courts wisely do not "require[e] [police] to guess at their peril the precise moment at which they have probable cause to arrest." *Hoffa v. United States*, 385 U.S. 293, 310, 87 S. Ct. 408 (1966); *see also State v. O'Neill*, 148 Wn.2d 564, 574-75, 62 P.3d 489 (2003). The court further

found formal arrest from facts that had not supported the finding in this Court's earlier decisions, which guided later decisions antithetical to the outcome in defendant's case. Chief among the seizure-analysis errors in defendant's case is lack of consideration for the "justification" component which "frequently proves determinative." *E.g.*, *Belieu*, 112 Wn.2d at 594; *Wheeler*, 108 Wn.2d at 233-37; *Chang*, 147 Wn. App. at 496-97; *Edwards*, 761 F.3d at 981-82;

Most of those cases involved analogous indicia of detainee guilt. Yet the Court of Appeals incorrectly factored the detainees' consciousness of guilt into assessing if it would have been reasonable for them to perceive a possibility of release. The correct test considers how innocent detainees would perceive the prospect of release. *E.g.*, *Edwards*, 761 F.3d at 981. Reconsidered with due focus on justification, and discounting detainee' consciousness of guilt, it is easy to understand why two trial court judges found a lawful *Terry* sweep for firearms in defendant's case:

Pierce County Sheriff's Deputy[] Shaffer responded to a call involving an incident at a Jack in the Box restaurant [that] indicated [] there were three occupants in the vehicle and that the front passenger was armed with a gun. [] Deputy Shaffer pulled in behind the vehicle, the passenger door opened and the front passenger, later identified as [defendant], began to step from the vehicle. Due to the report that the front passenger was armed with a gun,

Deputy Shaffer, who was alone at the time, stepped from his patrol car, drew his weapon, and gave loud verbal commands to [defendant] to put his hands where they could be seen. [Defendant] made eye contact with the deputy, but failed to comply with the deputy's oral commands. Instead, [defendant] reached back into the rear interior of the vehicle. Deputy Shaffer feared that [defendant] was reaching for a gun and continued to give verbal commands before [defendant] eventually complied. [He] was frisked, handcuffed, and detained in a patrol car by another officer who had just arrived on the scene. [] As Deputy Shaffer approached the vehicle to determine if there was a gun in the vehicle that could pose a threat to law enforcement officers, Burg stated that there was a gun in the car. Deputy Shaffer then entered the vehicle and found a .22 caliber Smith and Wesson revolver in a white plastic bag on the floorboard behind the driver's seat[.]

COA 46960-0-II (2016 WL 3702707, 1-2); RP(10/10/14) 50-55, 71-72; CP 540-45. This was treated as a *Gant* case because the Court of Appeals first affirmed the admission of the recovered firearm under the pre-*Gant* search incident to arrest exception. When properly viewed as the *Terry* scenario the case presents, one more reason to affirm defendant's robbery conviction appears. But since the Court of Appeals decision does not set precedent and leaves his life sentence undisturbed, the State only requests review of this issue if defendant's petition is granted.

3. REVIEW OF THE ROBBERY CONVICTION AFFIRMED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS IS ALSO AN IMPROVIDENT WASTE OF THIS COURT'S SCARCE RESOURCES SINCE THE DEFENDANT LACKS STANDING TO RAISE A CLAIM AGAINST THE FIREARM SWEEP AS IT APPLIED TO THE ROBBERY DUE TO THE INAPPLICABILITY OF AUTOMATIC STANDING FOR THAT NONPOSSESSORY OFFENSE.

A defendant only has "automatic standing" to challenge the search of a car in which he has no legitimate expectation of privacy when charged with a possessory offense. *State v. Foulkes*, 63 Wn. App. 643, 646-48, 821 P.2d 77 (1991); *Rakas v. Illinois*, 439 U.S. 128, 133, 99 S. Ct. 421 (1978)). First degree robbery is not a possessory offense. RCW 9A.56.200.

Burg owned the searched Camaro. Defendant's only connection to it was Burg's decision to give him a ride to the Jack in the Box. Defendant was exiting the car at the end of that trip when the stop was initiated. Burg's act of alerting police to the presence of a gun in the car could be fairly interpreted as tacit consent to its recovery, which defendant could not countermand. Regardless, he had no reasonable expectation of privacy in Burg's car, leaving him without standing to challenge the gun's recovery from the car as to the robbery count.

#### F. CONCLUSION.

Defendant's petition should be denied because it is predicated on a blatant misstatement of the record. His robbery conviction was affirmed because it proved to be supported by overwhelming evidence when tested under the constitutional harmless error test. The highly deferential test for assessing the sufficiency of evidence to support conviction was plainly not applied as defendant claims. Although the lower court should have placed the onerous on defendant to prove actual and substantial prejudice in a case on remand from a PRP, there is no reason to review that issue since a conviction that survives exacting constitutional harmless error review would survive the collateral attack test where prejudice is not presumed.

The perceived *Gant* error that prompted remand is illusory as the firearm was lawfully recovered during the *Terry* sweep of a car fresh from an armed robbery that occurred before a *Gant*-triggering arrest. Defendant lacks standing to challenge the gun's admissibility as to the robbery. It is not a possessory offense, so automatic standing does not apply. Because these issues do not impact defendant's life sentence at the moment and the lower court's decision is not precedent, the State only requests review of

them if defendant's petition is granted, for they are alternative grounds that justify affirming his well-deserved robbery conviction with the persistent offender sentence it supports.